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BEFORE THE FRANKLIN COUNTY BOARD OF ELECTIONS

In Re:

Special Meeting.

PROCEEDINGS

before Chairman Douglas J. Preisse, Director Edward
Leonard, Deputy Director David Payne, and Board
Members Bradley K. Sinnott, Kimberly E. Marinello,
and Michael Sexton, at the Franklin County Board of
Elections, 1700 Morse Road, Columbus, Ohio, called
at 3:08 p.m. on Thursday, May 2, 2019.
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APPEARANCES

Also

FRANKLIN COUNTY PROSECUTOR S OFFICE
By Timothy A. Lecklider, Esq.
Assistant ProsecutingAttorney

373 South High Street, 13th Floor
Columbus, Ohio 43215

(614) 525-3520,

On behalf of the Board.

J. COREY COLOMBO, Esquire

McTigue & Colombo, LLC

545 East Town Street

Columbus, Ohio 43215

Email: ccolombdidelectionlawgroupcom
(614) 263-7000,

On behalf of Protestor Phyllis M. Elmo.

DONALD C. BREY, Esquire

Taft, Stettinius & Hollister, LLP
65 East State Street, Suite 1000
Columbus, Ohio 43215

Email: dbreyltaftlaw.com

(614) 221-2007,

On behalf of Candidate Stephanie Mingo.

present:

Suzanne Brown, Executive Assistant to the
Board, Director, and Deputy Director
Stephanie Mingo Miles
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Thursday Afternoon Session
May 2, 2019
3:08 p.m.

DEPUTY DIRECTOR PAYNE: I will take
Kim Marinello.
MEMBER MARINELLO: Here.

DEPUTY DIRECTOR PAYNE: Michael

MEMBER SEXTON: Here.

DEPUTY DIRECTOR PAYNE: Doug

CHAIRMAN PREISSE: Here.

DEPUTY DIRECTOR PAYNE: And Brad

MEMBER SINNOTT: Here.

DEPUTY DIRECTOR PAYNE: We do have a

The first item on the agenda is the

approval of the April 1st, 2019, minutes. I

believe you were all sent electronic copies of the

minutes.

If there aren't any additions,

deletions, or corrections I'd take a motion to

approve those minutes.

Higgins & Associates 614.985.DEPO (3376)

www.HigginsCourtReporting.com




© 00 Jd4 o U s W N BB

N N MM MDNDNDS PP P P PR R R R R
o b W N B O VWV 0 Jd oo U d W NN B»r O

10
MEMBER MARINELLO: Mr. Chairman, I

move the Board approve the minutes of the
April 1st, 2019, meeting of the Franklin County
Board of Elections.

DEPUTY DIRECTOR PAYNE: Is there a
second?

MEMBER SINNOTT: There is.

DEPUTY DIRECTOR PAYNE: All those in
favor of the motion signify by saying aye.

(Vote taken.)

DEPUTY DIRECTOR PAYNE: All opposed,
same sign.

(No response.)

DEPUTY DIRECTOR PAYNE: Motion
carries.

The next item on the agenda is the
protest of candidacy of Stephanie Mingo Miles.

CHAIRMAN PREISSE: And I have -- I'm
going to suggest that we turn to our colleague on
my right, who has some small professional
experience in conducting and participatingin
hearings and has sort of naturally had this kind of
formal process in the past. So without protest and
your agreement ...

MEMBER SINNOTT: If that's agreeable
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to my colleagues on the Board. All right. Very
good.

MEMBER SINNOTT: Who is going to be
presenting today on behalf of the protestor?

MR. COLOMBO: Right here. Corey
Colombo from McTigue & Colombo.

MEMBER SINNOTT: All right.

And who will be presenting on behalf
of the respondent, Judge Mingo?

MR. BREY: Donald Brey or Don Brey
for Stephanie Mingo.

MEMBER SINNOTT: All right. I
understand that we have an informal agreement that
each side will be afforded approximately 35 minutes
for presentation And with that understanding if
the protestor would proceed.

MR. COLOMBO: Where would you like
us to sit logistically

MEMBER SINNOTT: Well, why don't you
bring a couple of chairs near the lectern. And
then if there is going to be any testimony today,
let's move a chair for the witness to sit in that
would be on the other side of the table. Yes. And
I realize that for counsel that there's a bit of

geographic awkwardness to that arrangement, but I'm
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sure you'll be able to adjust.

MR. COLOMBO: That works.

Just a point to clarify, too.
Customarily, in these hearings we're given a brief
five, ten minutes to make an opening statement 1Is
that —-

MR. SINNOTT: Mr. Colombo, I think
the division I would have for this is that if you
would like to make an opening statement and then
present your case and then a closing, and that
would all be within the confines of that 35
minutes.

MR. COLOMBO: Okay.

MEMBER SINNOTT: Essentially, you're
being given the floor for approximately 35 minutes.

MR. COLOMBO: Okay. Just give me a
minute before I get started. I'm going to set my
clock so I can try to abide by that.

MEMBER SINNOTT: And understand
this will not be like the Court of Appeals or the
Supreme Court. If you're in mid-sentence, you can
finish.

MR. COLOMBO: Okay. Great.

Well, it's also my understanding

that the parties are in agreement that the Judge,
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whether you call her Stephanie Mingo or Stephanie
Mingo Miles, whichever variation, that she'll be
available to testify to both parties.

Is that correct?

MR. BREY: Your Honor, we have no
objection to that. Although, she has a right not
to, she's going to submit to cross-examination

MEMBER SINNOTT: I think what that
means, Mr. Colombo, is that if you want to ask
questions of Judge Mingo during the course of your
presentation that will be fine.

MR. COLOMBO: Thank you. Okay.
I'll get started

MEMBER SINNOTT: Please.

MR. COLOMBO: I'd like to make a
five-minute opening statement and then would like
to ask some questions of the Judge.

Again, I'm Corey Colombo here today
with Derek Clinger. We represent Phyllis Elmo.
She is a registered Franklin County voter eligible
to vote in the 2019 general election. We have an
affidavit here today in Exhibit 51 to reference
that fact.

After the presentationof the law

and evidence, we would request that this Board
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grant the protest. Judge Mingo Miles' petition
should be deemed invalid and her name should not
appear on the 2019 general election ballot for
Franklin County Municipal Court Judge.

I have the highest respect for my
opposing counsel, although I disagree with the
quotes attributed to him in The Dispatch that
suggests this is -- the nature of this protest is
that we are demanding a woman should run with her
husband's new name. This is not the law, this is
not the Revised Code section cited, the case law
cited, or the Secretary of State directive that
incorporates those two cases.

Certainly women and men may use
their maiden name, but it has to be done so
properly. It has to be a name that they've used
regularly, customarily, and one that they have not
abandoned the sole use of.

The two cases we cite that are most

applicable of all that I could find are included in

your binder in 49 and 50 as the exhibits. And

these of all the cases we could find are the most

analogous of a married candidate who resorts to her

maiden name after the abandonment of the sole use

of that maiden name.
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And what the court held in these

cases is that the abandonment of the sole use of a
maiden name and then essentially returning to that
sole use of the maiden name for a political
advantage would hold the ballot -- or would hold
the petition to be invalid

Additionally if a person has -- a
candidate has a change of name and within the prior
five years, pursuant to 3513.271, then both their
present name and their former name must appear on
their petition.

Now, in this case, the Judge -- I'll
respectfullycall her the Judge -- she changed --
she did a name change at the Franklin County Board
of Elections; and therefore, she was obligated to
list both her former and present name on the
petition, and failure to do so leads to the
invalidationof the petition.

I will ask her some questions. But
my understandingis she got married in 2007,

12 years ago, and she made -- since that time she

has always included in all the records we can find
Miles as part of her last name and we could find no
instance of the name Mingo by itself in the public

records. Then, in January of 2019, she made the

Higgins & Associates 614.985.DEPO (3376)
www.HigginsCourtReporting.com




© 00 Jd4 o U s W N BB

N N MM MDNDNDS PP P P PR R R R R
o b W N B O VWV 0 Jd oo U d W NN B»r O

16

name change to just using the maiden name by
itself, no reference to the name she had used the
12 prior years which incorporatedher new last
name.

So I think both sides would
acknowledge and you'll see in our records there are
variations of the names used but never Mingo by
itself, always with Miles. And this was her choice
how to present herself to the world, how to present
herself to the Ohio Supreme Court, her fellow
attorneys, the Columbus Bar, the Board of
Elections, the Ethics Commission the Notary
Commission her employers, banks, and lending
institutions You know, so if her inner circle
thought of her as a Mingo, people she grew up with,
that's understandable I mean, that would be true
of anyone who gets married. But how she presented
herself to the world was always with the name Miles
since 2007 until January of 20109.

An additional issue is in Exhibit 4,
if you look at that. And we have in our binder
done our best to both number and have page numbers
at the bottom. But if you look at Exhibit 4, too,
another difference in this case compared to some of

the case law is she made Mingo her middle name.
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Mingo is her middle name as of 2008, which is a
significantdifference because now you also have
the factor that her petition as it stands now has
her first and middle name, what she considered her
middle name to be. It no longer has any last name
on the petition. So that's just a separate issue.

So these records we're going to
present to you today, the Judge signed her name
Stephanie Miles even as late as December 26, 2018,
on all her legal pleadings with no reference to
Mingo. So any attorneys who worked with her knew
her as Stephanie Miles. That was her email
address, that was her name, that was her service
name, that was how she presented herself to the
legal community. And so that was even on
December 26th, the day she got the appointment
And also, she voted in November of 2018 in Delaware
County under the name Stephanie Mingo Miles. So on
the day of her employment, she's now Stephanie
Mingo. Not even at that point she was appointed
with the name Miles. Originally changed her name
at the Franklin County Board with the name Mingo
Miles and then loses Miles completely not till a
few days before she circulates her petition.

So why does it make a difference
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here? Because the cases we've cited deal with a
political advantage. And clearly here -- I
actually happen to see the former auditor in the
room. Always great to work with and it's great
he's showing support for his sister. But the name
Mingo in this town is a pretty prestigious name.

He held office for eight years. He was on the
ballot three times. If you get a notice like I did
a couple of months ago to renew my dog tags, I see
your picture, I see your name, I see return it to
this name. When I pump gas, there's the name Mingo
wherever you go in this county. When you go to
look up a property, if you're being a nosey
neighbor, you see Mingo's picture on the top with
his name. So clearly, this is for a political
advantage here.

If you were to take the time to read
those two cases we cited, really the only
difference is swapping out the names in those cases
with the name Stephanie Mingo Miles to Stephanie
Mingo. Both cases are identical in the formatting
And I will say, you know, you might be presented
with contrary case law, but from what I've seen in
opposing counsel's binder those situations are

distinguishableand inapplicable The situation
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where you change or you want a different -- after
you've filed a petition want a different derivative
of your name, that's not the law we're talking
about here. We're talking about -- I'm sorry.
We're talking about the two Revised Code sections
we've cited in our protest, which are 3513.271 and
3513.261.

So we request for this protest to be
granted, and I would like the opportunity to ask
the Judge some questions.

MEMBER SINNOTT: Does that conclude
your opening?

MR. COLOMBO: Yes, it does.

MEMBER SINNOTT: Now might be an
opportune time for the Board to ask Mr. Colombo any
questions that it has before he begins the
presentationof his evidence.

Any questions from Board members at
this juncture?

MEMBER SEXTON: I don't have
questions, just kind of a comment. It's my
understanding that Clarence Mingo was on the ballot
four times over a ten-year period, including 2008
when he ran for Clerk of Courts; 2010, 2014, and

2018 for Auditor. That's just a clarification
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MR. COLOMBO: And I'm sorry to

forget that one. But it does seem like his name is
on the ballot every -- for all the big elections,
which is pretty much the point of our case here.
But thank you for that clarification

MEMBER SINNOTT: Mr. Colombo, --

MR. COLOMBO: Yeah.

MEMBER SINNOTT: -- I'm reading from
the February 22 protest. There is this statement,
the first page, under heading A, Ohio law requires
candidates to use their legal name on their
nominating petitions and statements of candidacy.
Then you cite as to Revised Code 3513.261.

MR. COLOMBO: Correct.

MEMBER SINNOTT: Would you direct me
to the language in 3513.261 that contains the legal
name requirements that you ascribe to it?

MR. COLOMBO: If you could just give
me a second. This isn't the best podium to spread
out things. I have to find the protest here.

I think 261 has the space for
putting in your name of candidate. And it would be
the directives. For example, Exhibit 1 where you
talk about candidate petitiomrs at the bottom. It

deals with change of names and former names. So
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it's the directives and the case law. The 261
itself just has a blank for your name.

MEMBER SINNOTT: So would we agree
that there is no requirement in 3513.261 that a
candidate use his or her legal name on the
nominating petition and statement of candidacy?

MR. COLOMBO: In this Revised Code
section?

MEMBER SINNOTT: Yes. In 3513.261
there is no such requirement?

MR. COLOMBO: Well, I think it's
implied when it says name of candidate I mean, if
I put my name as Bill Smith --

MEMBER SINNOTT: So you derive from
that phrase that it is the legal name?

MR. COLOMBO: Correct.

MEMBER SINNOTT: Okay.

MR. COLOMBO: I would think the
directives bear that out in the case law where
someone's trying to use a name that wasn't their
legal name.

MEMBER SINNOTT: I notice that you
point to two decisiors from the Eighth District,
mandamus decisions, --

MR. COLOMBO: Correct.
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MEMBER SINNOTT: -- as the case

authority for your protest as well as the Miller
decision from the Ohio Supreme Court.

Is it your understandingthat the
facts of this matter are such that it will be
demonstrated that Judge Mingo has been known
exclusively as Stephanie Mingo Miles or Stephanie
Miles since the time of her marriage, that those
would have been the facts of the McLaughlin and
Martinez?

MR. COLOMBO: Yes. I think if you
read those cases they don't use the word exclusive
And in fact, in those cases, very similar to the
Judge's claims, there were examples in those cases
where there were some stray uses including both
maiden name and married name together as well as
they I think in each case had examples where they
used the name solely; but the overwhelmingevidence
in those cases were that they abandoned the sole
use of their legal name.

MEMBER SINNOTT: Abandoned the sole
use of their --

MR. COLOMBO: I'm sorry. Abandoned
the sole use of their maiden name was the holding

in both those cases.
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MEMBER SINNOTT: And it is your

contention that the facts of this matter are that
upon marriage Judge Mingo was never again known as
Stephanie Mingo, abandoning the use of her
unmarried name?

MR. COLOMBO: Well, I would
interpret and I'd encourage you if you haven't
already to look at those two cases to see that
there -- I mean, certainly there's going to be some
childhood friends that will still know her by that
name. But what the courts honed in on that case --
those cases are what's the body of evidence here,
what is in the public record. And in actually both
of them they evaluated the same records we're going
to present to you today.

MEMBER SINNOTT: Now, you mentioned
Judge Mingo's brother has been an elected official
in the past in Franklin County, and I believe you
made a reference -- I'm certain you did -- in the
written protest to political advantage. In the
event of someone who is known by more than one
name, let's say, for example, a woman who is
married and is known in some circles by an
unmarried name and in other circles by a married

name, is it your position that in order to qualify
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for the ballot she must in her subjective judgment
choose the worst of the two ballot names?

MR. COLOMBO: No, I don't think
that's what I'm arguing at all.

MEMBER SINNOTT: Okay.

MR. COLOMBO: I mean, the -- the
long and short of it is you've got to use the
name -- your name you're commonly known by on the
ballot or else these courts are saying it's
deceptive to do otherwise

Again, in both these cases there was
some stray references to variations of names, as is
not too uncommon. But I guess the question that
I -- when I get to ask questions of the Judge is
why -- you know, we scoured 12 years of all the
public records available to us and we honestly
cannot find one instance of Stephanie Mingo by
itself or any variation of her name that also did
not include Miles.

MEMBER SINNOTT: Thank you,
Mr. Colombo. That's helpful in understanding in
your position.

MR. COLOMBO: No. I appreciate the
questions.

So if I could ask, would I have
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30 minutes from this point? Because normally the
questions come at the end, so --

MEMBER SEXTON: Well, I mean, after
he finished his opening statement, I have him at
3:21 and it's now 3:28.

MEMBER SINNOTT: Let's see where
this takes us and --

MR. COLOMBO: Okay. I just want to
make sure I have the chance to develop my record
and present the evidence to you to consider.

MEMBER SINNOTT: It would not be our
intention to stop you mid-sentence. As is always
true --

MR. COLOMBO: No. I know you well
enough and I know that to be the case.

MEMBER SINNOTT: As is always true,
the more efficient the presentationby counsel, the
better it will be.

MR. COLOMBO: I appreciate that.

So is it okay if the Judge sits at
the table in front of you?

MEMBER SINNOTT: Yes. That's what
we had in mind.

(Witness sworn by the reporter.)
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STEPHANIE MINGO,

being first duly sworn, testifies as follows:
EXAMINATION
BY MR. COLOMBO:

Q. Judge, when you were -- am I correct
in my statement that you were married in 20077

A. That's correct.

Q. And your husband's name is James.

Is that correct, also?
A. No, it's not correct.
Q. Oh, it's not? I'm sorry.
What's your husband's name?

A. Jason.

Q. Jason. I'm sorry. That was my bad.
I apologize.

And have you used the name Miles
predominantlyever since?

A. Depending on which circle or which
environmentI'm in.

Q. Okay. How about as an attorney?

A. I have not used the name Miles as an
attorney solely or mostly. It's usually Stephanie
Mingo Miles. Again, depending on what environment
I'm in. I'm always an attorney. So it depends on

the environmentI'm in.
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Q. Well, how about in 2018, how would

you have signed your pleadings?

A. I had paralegals that worked for me,
so it depends on if I typed the pleadings.
Typically, I did not. My paralegals typically
typed my pleadings Stephanie M. Miles and signed as
the paralegals typed it, Stephanie M. Miles.

Q. But as an attorney, under Rule 11
you have to review documents you sign. Right?

A. That is correct.

Q. So you would have seen how they had

it set up in your signature block?

A. Yes, I would.

Q. Okay. Since 2007 have you been
divorced

A. No, I have not.

Q. Okay. Have you had any dissolution

of your marriage?
A. No, I have not.
Q. So I assume you haven't been

remarried either?

A. Since 2007?

Q. Since 2007.

A. No, I have not.

Q. And that's one of those silly
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questions that when it comes out on a transcript --
but it's part of the questions I have to ask.
And any annulments of your marriage

to Jason Miles?

A. No.

Q. Did you bring your driver's license
today?

A. I did.

Q. What is your name on your driver's
license?

A. Stephanie Mingo Miles.

Q. Okay. And when did you get that
reviewed?

A. December, early December.

Q. And when you said December, do you

mean December of 20187

A. December of 2018, yes.

Q. So that's what you considerd your
legal name to be in December 20187

A. Yes.

Q. I mean, that's what you're providing
to the Department -- the DMV, right, is this is my
legal name?

A. That is my legal name.

Q. Okay. Have you changed your name to
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Mingo by itself with the Probate Court?

A. No.

Q. Now, I'm going to ask you to look at
some records here, but I can tell you we've scoured
pretty much everything there is in the public
domain for the last 12 years. We've not seen any
instance of your name of Stephanie Mingo by itself.
Can you explain why that might be?

A. Because I signed the document
Stephanie Mingo or Stephanie Mingo Miles or
Stephanie M. Miles.

Q. But have you ever -- I mean, do you
recall a public document you signed just Stephanie
Mingo by itself from the time you got married to
the end of 2018 when you got your appointment?

A. Sitting here today, I don't recall.

Q. That's fair.

Do you recall at any time between
the time you got married and up till the time of
your appointment to the judge position where you
did not use the name Miles on any public records?

A. Repeat your question.

Q. Can you think of any time from the
time you got married to the time of your judicial

appointment where you did not use Miles as part of
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your last name?

A. Perhaps you can use a time frame.
I'm still not following what you're asking.

Q. So I'm basically looking for -- And
that's fair. I want to make sure you understand

So you got married in 2007. You got
appointed December 26, 2018. Can you think of a
time where you did not include Miles as part of
your last name on a public record or public
document?

A. Sitting here today, without having
all public documents in front of me, I do not
recall.

Q. Okay. If I could have you look at
the exhibits here. If you -- The binder in front
of you is the same as the Board members have.

MEMBER SINNOTT: Mr. Colombo, if I
may. The binder that we were given when we arrived
today by you and your team, is that identical to
the protest and its exhibits?

MR. COLOMBO: There's a quite a bit
of overlap; however, there's some new exhibits here
today.

MEMBER SINNOTT: Okay. And you'll

be referring exclusively to the binder of exhibits
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presented on May 2nd, today's date?

MR. COLOMBO: That's correct. Yeah.
And I appreciate you clarifying that.

So if we could, I guess these would
be Protestor's Exhibits 1 through 51. Now,
certainly with the time limitationsI'm not going
to be going through all of them.

MR. SINNOTT: Thank you.

MR. COLOMBO: You're welcome.

BY MR. COLOMRBO:

Q. Judge, if you could turn to page 11,
which is Exhibit 4. Do you recognize your
signature on this card?

A. I do.

Q. Do you have any reason to doubt this
is a Board record that you signed?

A. I do not.

Q. So this is from 2008. Would you
agree that you officially changed your name with
the Board to Miles at that point, with the Franklin
County Board, that you went from Mingo to Mingo
Miles?

A. I went from -- No, I would not agree
that that is accurate.

Q. How would you describe this
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document?

A. I went from Stephanie L. Mingo to
Stephanie Mingo Miles.

Q. If T said that incorrectly I
apologize.

Would you agree that you indicated
to the Board that your middle name is Mingo?

A. Yes.

Q. And not part of your last name as
Mingo Miles?

A. Correct.

Q. So as of 2008 you're beginning to
use the name Miles for your voting. Is that
correct?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. So if you go to Exhibit 5 on
page 12, these are starting now a series of Board
records, which I will not go over all of them. Is
that your signature on this document?

A. It is.

Q. Okay. Do you agree at that point in
time on a document like this you aren't even using
the name Mingo here, it's Jjust Miles on this
document?

A. Mingo is not written on this
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document.

Q. Okay.

MR. BREY: I would object. Her name
was printed on the document, but her signature
is Miles.

MR. COLOMBO: And I would agree with
you, Counsel; but her signature is Miles, that's
how she signed her name.

MEMBER SINNOTT: 1Is there a question
to the Judge?

MR. COLOMBO: No. I'm sorry. I'm
agreeing with the counsel and the point he made
there.

BY MR. COLOMBO:

Q. Now, as you just flip through
Exhibits 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, and 11, these are all
Board of Elections records. Could you look at your
signature on these, on 5 through 11°?

Judge, on these, do you agree those
are your signatures on each document?

A. Yes.

Q. And these go through the years. So
if you take Exhibit 11, for example, you're signing
your name Miles. Correct?

A. Correct.
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Q. And I would agree with Mr. Brey that

the Board at that point in time has Stephanie as
your first name and Mingo as the middle name and
Miles as the last name. Correct?

A. Correct.

Q. Now, if you could go to Exhibit 12,
this is a certified record from Delaware County
Board of Elections. Do you agree this is your name

here, your signature here?

A. That is not my -- Yes.
Q. It's a busy document here.
So you voted -- according to this,

even when you went to Delaware you still were going
with the last name Miles, that was still part of
your last name?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And in fact, you voted in
Delaware in November of 2018. Correct?

A. Yes.

Q. So you considered your residence to
be Delaware at that point?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. Now, if you flip to
Exhibit 13, which is page 20, it appears you

registered in Franklin County the same day you got
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the appointment from the Governor. 1Is that
correct? This is your Franklin County -- your
voting abstract. If you look to --

First of all, is that your

signature?
A. That looks like my signature
Q. And you're still using the name

Miles to the Board?

A. I'm just trying to figure out what
document this is.

Q. Yeah. I know this is another busy
document, but let's start first with your
signature. Is that -- You're still using Miles?

A. I have confirmed that is my

signature, yes.

Q. Not on this page, though, I don't
believe.

A. On Exhibit 137

Q. Yeah.

A. That is my signature on Exhibit 13.

Q. Thank you.

And so you're registeringnow in
Franklin County as of December 26, 2018. Correct?
If you look at address history, start date
12-26-2018 under address history.
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A. I don't recall registeringas
Stephanie Mingo Miles in Franklin County in
December of 2018.

Q. So at that point you still would
have been a Delaware County voter?

A. It depends on at what point in
December 2018. I moved to Franklin County at the
end of December 2018.

Q. Okay. Well, according to this

record you registered on December 26 at Franklin

County.

A. Okay.

Q. Do you have any reason to dispute
that?

A. I don't see the date on this
document.

Q. If you look under address history,

there's a start date, 12-26-2018. But you're
saying you don't remember registeringin Franklin
County in December?

A. That is not what I'm saying. I'm
saying I don't recall registeringas Stephanie
Mingo Miles in Franklin County in December 2018.

MR. BREY: Just a point of

clarification Judge Mingo has been prescribed
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bifocals but has not yet purchased them. And the

fine print that I have a hard time reading, I
strongly suspect she has a hard time reading too.

MR. COLOMBO: That's a fair point.
But she's saying -- her testimony is she does not
remember registering in Franklin County in
December.

A. That is not my testimony. I do not

recall registeringas Stephanie Mingo Miles in

Franklin County in December of 2018.

Q. Would you have reason to dispute you
did that?
A. I would not have reason to dispute

it 1f T have a record in front of me stating that I
registered as Stephanie Mingo Miles and it has my
signature

Q. Okay. Well, if you go to Exhibit 14
now, now we have a more clear picture. And this is
a change of name update to the Board of Elections.
Is that correct?

A. I read this document as an update
name to the Board of Elections.

Q. And now in January of 2019 you're
using Stephanie Mingo by itself?

A. I have updated my name as Stephanie
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Mingo.

Q. Any reason you would have updated it
a second time in Franklin County? The purpose at
that point was just to change your name. Correct?

A. I did not change my name. The
purpose was not to change the name. The purpose
was to update my voter registrationin Franklin
County, and in the process I updated my name.

Q. But it appears you did it just a
couple of weeks earlier, in December.

MEMBER SINNOTT: 1Is that a questiorm?

MR. COLOMBO: It is. I mean, she's
saying she updated it at the end of December of
2018, and here we are less than two weeks later
updating it again.

MEMBER SINNOTT: Mr. Colombo, my
only concern was that it sounded as though there
was an argument breaking out, and I wanted to make
sure that --

MR. COLOMBO: Okay. And please
caution me if you see me doing that. I don't
intend to do that.

BY MR. COLOMBO:
Q. It looks to me -- and correctme if

I'm wrong -- that you registered twice in Franklin
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County, once at the end of December and once in
January. Is that correct?

MR. BREY: Objection Asked and
answered.

MR. COLOMBO: Well, she didn't
answer that question

MR. BREY: Well, you're asking two
different questions.

MEMBER SINNOTT: Well, Counsel, I
think it would be sufficient if Judge Mingo would
hear the question again as Mr. Colombo posed it,
and whether she's already responded or not let's
have a response.

MR. COLOMBO: 1I'll try to streamline
it.

BY MR. COLOMRBO:
Q. Why did you register twice in

Franklin County within a two-week period?

A. I updated my name.
Q. Thank you. That's all I was -- And
I -- my questions aren't as articulate as your

counsel's would be, trust me.
Now, if you go to Exhibit 15, we're
starting to see announcementsby the Governor's

office of your appointment And due to time, I'm
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going to skip Exhibit 15. I'm going to ask you
about Exhibit 16. The Governor's office refers to
you as Miles. After first appointingyou as
Stephanie Mingo Miles, he considers your name to be
Judge Miles. 1Is that correct?

MR. BREY: Objection She can
testify to what the judge -- what the Governor
said. She can't testify to what the Governor
considers her.

BY MR. COLOMRBO:

Q. What did the Governor call you,
Judge what?

A. I have not spoken to Governor
Kasich, so he didn't refer to me as Judge Mingo or
Judge Stephanie Mingo Miles.

Q. But would you have had
communicationswith his office?

A. I would have.

Q. Okay. And they -- in their mind
they identified you as Judge Miles, is that
correct, or that's what's on the documents?

MEMBER SINNOTT: Those are two
different questions. You want to ask what's on the
document or what was in the mind of --

MR. COLOMBO: Yeah.
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BY MR. COLOMBO:

Q. What -- It's certainly not what's in
the mind. I'm asking what's on the document,
page -- Exhibit 16.
MR. BREY: I would object. The
document speaks for itself.
Q. Okay. Would you agree it says Judge
Miles?
A. Exhibit 15 refers to the appointment
of Stephanie Mingo Miles.
Q. But then, subsequent to that, just
Judge Miles. 1Is that correct? Is that what the
document states? If you look at the start of
paragraph two, for example.
A. The document does state Miles.
MR. BREY: The document says what it
says and it contains the verbiage that it contains.
MEMBER SINNOTT: We're nearing -—-
we're beyond a half hour now, and I think I see
where you're going with this line of questioning
I wonder if perhaps things could be expedited
through a stipulation because we're less than a
third of the way through this --
MR. COLOMBO: Oh, no. I'm not going

to -- I'm only going to do a fraction
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MEMBER SINNOTT: But I wonder -- and

which the answer to this could be yes or no on the
part of the two sides -- I wonder if as to the
documents that are in the folder there would be a
stipulationof their authenticity that is, they
are what they purport to be.

MR. COLOMBO: Counsel?

MR. BREY: If he's willing to
stipulate my documents are what they purport to be,
I will stipulate that his documents are what they
purport to be.

MR. COLOMBO: I haven't even seen
all his documents yet.

MR. BREY: Well, I haven't seen his,
either.

MR. COLOMBO: But I think
Mr. Sinnott was asking about that series of
documents.

MR. BREY: I just got them this
morning, just like you got mine this morning.

MR. COLOMBO: Okay. If we could
just move on. I mean, I'm trying to keep this
moving.

BY MR. COLOMBO:

Q. If you could turn to Exhibit 17.
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Now, this is actually how you chose to be sworn in
and raised your hand. In your swearing in, you
indicated your name was Stephanie Mingo Miles.
Correct?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. And your brother swore you
in, the County Auditor?

A. He did.

Q. And he refers to you as Stephanie
Mingo Miles. Is that correct?

A. In this document

Q. Okay. If you could turn to
Exhibit 18. This is your Designation of Treasurer
form on file currently. If you look at full name
of candidate, what name did you choose to go by?
What do you say your full name is?

A. It is typed Stephanie Mingo, hyphen,
Miles; however, my signature is Stephanie Mingo.

Q. Correct.

And this was January 4th, correct,

of 2019?

A. Correct.

Q. Just a few days before your
petitior?

A. I don't know of the petition date.
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Q. Well, if you could turn to
Exhibit 19, this is an example of your petition.
Would you acknowledge that your signature is on
January 16th, 2019?

A. Yes.

Q. Do you acknowledge that you did not
put an alternative version of your name in the name
of the candidate line?

A. In the name of the candidate line
it's Stephanie Mingo.

Q. Correct.

If you could flip to page 27 of this
petition. I wanted to ask you why you chose to
cross out your name Miles in both the circulator
statement and the signature of circulator. It was
signed Stephanie Mingo Miles.

A. In some circles I sign as Stephanie
Mingo Miles and some I sign as Stephanie Mingo.

Q. So why did you feel it was important

to cross that out?

A. I am Judge Mingo.
Q. But you -- isn't the way a person
signs their best indication of what -- how they

perceive their name?

A. I signed as Judge Mingo. That is my
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name.

Q. But you signed it Stephanie Mingo
Miles.

A. I signed it Stephanie Mingo Miles
initially and updated it to Stephanie Mingo.

Q. So part of the January update is to
just go exclusively by Mingo, then. Correct?

A. I don't know what you mean by
January updates.

Q. Okay. Where Mingo's -- the first
time we started seeing the name Mingo by itself in
these records.

A. In the records in your binder?

Q. In the records we can discover,
unless you brought others.

A. I don't know all that you
discovered but from what you put in this binder,
from what you've gone through, it looks like you've
pulled documents with Stephanie Mingo Miles.

Q. Okay. And I'm just going to keep
going. I don't want an argument or to be
argumentative

MEMBER SINNOTT: Mr. Colombo, if it
is helpful, I can assure you that all the documents

in your exhibit binder will be received and have
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been received by the Board and are a part of the
record.

MR. COLOMBO: I appreciate that.
Thank you.

I'm trying to stick to my time. I
think with the questions that I was asked, could I
have still five or ten minutes based on that and
then I'll wrap up wherever I leave off?

MEMBER SINNOTT: A few more minutes
of this and then an opportunity for closing strikes
me as being sensible.

MR. COLOMBO: Okay. Thank you.

BY MR. COLOMRBO:

Q. Judge, if you could turn to
Exhibit 20. 1It's on page 28. Do you recognize
this statement as your financial disclosure
statement to the ethics commissior?

A. I do.

Q. And you represented to the State of
Ohio on January 21st, 2019, that your last name was

Miles. 1Is that correct?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. No reference to Mingo at that
point?

A. I don't see anything on this page.
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Q. So to the ethics commission your
name was Stephanie Miles?

A. I indicatedmy last name was Miles
on this exhibit.

Q. And I'm sorry. That would have been
to the Board of Professional Conduct, correct,
since you're a judge?

A. Board of Professional Conduct of the
Supreme Court of Ohio is on the top of the page.

Q. If you turn to Exhibit 21, your name
on file with the Ohio Supreme Court is Stephanie
Mingo Miles. 1Is that correct?

A. That is correct.

Q. Okay. Now, if you could go to
Exhibit 22. Now, here's where I'm going to start
skipping a lot. The next six or seven exhibits are
court filings, including the day you were
appointed If you could turn to page 36, how do
you title your name?

A. Stephanie M. Miles is my signature

Q. That's how you used your name as an
attorney. Correct?

A. Not always.

Q. Okay. In this case your email

address you gave your employer is "s miles."
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Correct? That was with the Franklin County
Prosecutor's Office?

A. That was the email address assigned
to me by the Franklin County Prosecutor.

Q. Okay. Did you ask them to correct
that to have the name Mingo in there?

A. No. Again, that was what was
assigned to me.

Q. Okay. If you could quickly flip --
I'm going to flip -- And I trust Mr. Sinnott's
comments that he's going to take these into the
record. So the next several pages are just the
various court pleadings over a wide period of time
when you were filing things where you used
Stephanie M. Miles in your legal capacity.

If you could go to Exhibit 30. I
think I'm down to like three exhibits left, three
or four.

MR. COLOMBO: Again, with the idea I
hope the Board will look at all of these exhibits.

Q. Exhibit 30, on page 56, this is a
campaign finance report for Citizens for Mingo. 1If
you turn to page 57, even your brother's committee
identifies you as Stephanie Miles, would you agree?

A. I am ident- -- There's the name

Higgins & Associates 614.985.DEPO (3376)
www.HigginsCourtReporting.com




© 00 Jd4 o U s W N BB

N N MM MDNDNDS PP P P PR R R R R
o b W N B O VWV 0 Jd oo U d W NN B»r O

49

StephanieMiles. I am identified as Stephanie
Miles on page 57.

Q. Okay. If you go to Exhibit 35,
which starts on page 66, at the Ohio Notary
Commission you're known as Stephanie M. Miles.
Correct?

A. On this page I -- there's the name
StephanieMiles. I am identified as Stephanie
Miles and Stephanie M. Miles.

Q. Right. I appreciate that.

And if you could go to Exhibit 36 on
page 67, you incorporatel the name Miles in your

legal business, correct, at that point in time?

A. I'm sorry. Would you repeat your
questiom?
Q. Yeah.

So this is a Secretary of State
document. You're identifyingyour law office as
Stephanie Mingo Miles. So Miles is included in
there. Correct?

A. Correct.

Q. And as the statutory agent you're
just going by Stephanie M. Miles. Correct?

A. I don't know that that is correct.

Q. Do you dispute the Secretary of
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State record?

A. I see that The Law Office of
Stephanie Mingo Miles is listed.

Q. Okay. And --

MR. BREY: I would object to
disputing the Secretary of State's record because
the Secretary of State's record does not list her
on page 69 as Stephanie M. Miles but as Stephanie
Mingo Miles.

MR. COLOMBO: No. I acknowledged
that. That's the name of her law office.

MR. BREY: I would also note -- it's
up to the Board, obviously -- that you have spoken
including your presentation for 35 minutes now.

MR. COLOMBO: Right. I think they
were going to give me five or ten minutes due to
their questions and the technical --

MR. BREY: That includes their
questions, I think.

MEMBER SINNOTT: Counsel,

Mr. Colombo, how much more time do you think you
need?

MR. COLOMBO: I just need five
minutes. I mean, customarilywe get 90 minutes.

So I pretty much am cutting my presentationin
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half.

MEMBER SINNOTT: The last time we
had a protest here I think we allotted 35 to the
side.

But Mr. Colombo, if you can finish
in five minutes, then please do so, sir.

MR. COLOMBO: That is fair.

BY MR. COLOMRBO:

Q. If you could go to Exhibit 38 on
page 72. This is the start of a series of
documents. This particular document is a mortgage.
Do you acknowledge your legal name in this is

Stephanie M. Miles?

A. It is typed Stephanie M. Miles on
Exhibit 38.
Q. Okay.

MR. COLOMBO: And again, I'd ask the

Board to look at the rest of the exhibits. I want
to respect the time limits you've provided

Q. Judge, when you were deciding how
your name should appear on the ballot, did you have
any discussions with anyone?

A. I did.

Q. Did anyone suggest to you the name

Mingo would play well in this county?
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MR. BREY: I would object. We're

getting here into political communications which
are totally inappropriateand totally irrelevant to
these proceedings

MR. COLOMBO: I didn't 1limit it to
political communications

MEMBER SINNOTT: I will sustain that
objection The issues raised by the protest are
whether there was an obligation for Judge Mingo to
use her legal name on her candidacy documents and
whether she completely abandoned the use of the
name Stephanie Mingo upon marriage. There is a
danger for this Board if we allow a protest to
become a device by which discovery is being had of
the inner workings of a candidate's campaign. 1It's
a danger that's presented to both sides.

MR. COLOMBO: I agree.

MEMBER SINNOTT: So for that reason,
I sustain that objection

The next question

MR. COLOMBO: Okay. Can I ask on
the non-political front did she speak with friends,
people at the courthouse

MR. BREY: Your Honor, I -- same

objection You can't characterizeit as
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non-political just because they're not party
officials.

MEMBER SINNOTT: Mr. Colombo, I
would sustain that objection I think it presents
the same problem because of the identificationof
who is political and who is not.

MR. COLOMBO: Okay.

BY MR. COLOMRBO:

Q. Well, I will move on from that
question and ask you personally, do you see the
benefit to using the name Mingo on a ballot in
Franklin County?

A. Mingo is a very well-known,
respected name. It's my family name.

Q. Yeah.

And that was part of the decision to
include it on the ballot, on the petitiom?

A. Part of the decision -- Yes. It is
a well-known name.

Q. Okay. And just for the record,
would you acknowledge that two of the committee --
of your petition committee members are Doug Preisse
and Brad Sinnott?

MR. BREY: I would object. Again, I

think that's irrelevant to the proceedings we have.
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I see no reason to go down this line of
questioning

MEMBER SINNOTT: 1I'll overrule that
objection That's a question that can be answered
in and of itself.

MR. COLOMBO: Okay. So you're
saying she doesn't have to --

MEMBER SINNOTT: No. I'm saying
that -- Your question was to the effect of would
you acknowledge that Doug Preisse and Brad Sinnott
are members of your nominating committee. That is
your question, Mr. Colombo?

MR. COLOMBO: It is.

MEMBER SINNOTT: Judge Mingo, I
think you can answer that.

A. Yes.

Q. And just, again, for the record, do
you acknowledge that Mr. Preisse is hosting a
fundraiser for you in the upcoming weeks?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay.

MR. COLOMBO: Just for the record,
for the transcript, I just want to get that in
there.

I appreciate your -- you know, I
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tried to stick to the time and that's why I'm
cutting out about half the exhibits.

MEMBER SINNOTT: And I apprehended
that you were trying to stay on track.

MR. COLOMBO: Yes.

MR. SINNOTT: You have a couple of
minutes of closing observations

MR. COLOMBO: I appreciate that.
Thank you both.

MEMBER SINNOTT: Board, we have
heard from the protestor and we have accepted
without objection the collection of exhibits
proffered today by protestor.

By the way, how long did that take?

DEPUTY DIRECTOR PAYNE: 46 minutes
and 15 seconds total.

MEMBER SINNOTT: Mr. Brey, you may.

And Judge Mingo, if you would like
to return to the gallery, you may, or if Mr. Brey
would like to have you stay there --

MR. BREY: You can probably stay

there. I might have a few questions for you.

MEMBER SINNOTT: Mr. Brey, something

along the line in terms of length of what we just

heard from Mr. Colombo.
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MR. BREY: That sounds fine,

although I doubt I will need as much time as he
took.

Briefly, let me open by suggesting
that there's nothing in 3517.261 -- or excuse me --
3513.261 that states or implies or suggests that
you must use your legal name in nominating
petitiors and declaratiors of candidacy. So the
words legal name are not in there anywhere. You
can talk about implying or, you know, reading
between the lines and saying it must mean that; but
this Board has never interpreted it as meaning
that. And we know that it's never been interpreted
as meaning that because even as recently as last
November's election, as Exhibit 4 of our submission
indicates, there were a number of candidates who
were allowed to file and run as Mike, Rick, Jim,
Danny, Joe, and were not required to file and run
in their legal names of Michael, Richard, Daniel,
James, and Joseph.

You know, this is just a made-up
rule that does not exist and it is improper to
mislead this Board into believing that you have to
use your legal name because that's never been the

rule and this Board has never followed that or
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enforced that as a rule. As long as it's a name
that you are commonly known as, even if it's not
the only name that you're known as, you're allowed
to use it.

And there's not one rule for men who
normally don't take their spouse's name on marriage
and a different rule for women who opt to take
their spouse's name as their legal names upon
marriage. And this Board has always understood
that, as well.

Because as we've attached in
Exhibit 5 -- and this is just from the records of
this Franklin County Board of Elections -- there
have been numerous instances in which the Franklin
County Board of Elections has long allowed women to
appear on the ballot in various versions of their
married and birth names. And all we're suggesting
is that Judge Stephanie Mingo who, yes, under other
circumstancesuses the name Stephanie Mingo Miles,
but she does use the name and has used the name
Stephanie Mingo, has the same right as the other
women, either Democrat or Republican who have been
afforded the right to use various versions of their
birth and married names.

You know, the two cases that are

Higgins & Associates 614.985.DEPO (3376)
www.HigginsCourtReporting.com




© 00 Jd4 o U s W N BB

N N MM MDNDNDS PP P P PR R R R R
o b W N B O VWV 0 Jd oo U d W NN B»r O

58

cited primarily by opposing counsel are attached as
Exhibits 6 and 7 to our submission -- or excuse

me -- are attached to their brief, not to ours.

And they do not, in fact, state that women who
marry are required to always use their husband's
name or to never use their husband's name. There
is simply nothing in those cases or in the law that
says that.

By the way, I was a little bit
surprised to hear the argument of opposing counsel
saying, well, in the McLaughlin case, which is the
reported one, -- there's an unreported one, too --
you know, there were various versions of the name
that she used and testimony to that effect.

As a matter of fact, if you take a
look at paragraph two of the McLaughlinv. Cuyahoga
County case, which I believe is included in their
submission you will note that the evidence was
that the candidate, quote, could not think of any
circles in which she uses McLaughlin her maiden
name, exclusively, end quote. Those were the facts
of those cases. Not that she sometimes used one
and sometimes used the other, but that she never
used the one. And that is why in the McLaughlin

case the Cuyahoga County Court of Appeals when it
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was asked to say that the Board of Elections had
abused its discretion and could not possibly have
kept McLaughlin off the ballot --

Because that was the standard 1It's
not the standard is it right or wrong, but are they
clearly wrong in what they do in a mandamus case.

-- it was found that there wasn't
any evidence and it was clear that she had
abandoned the use of just her maiden name. You
know, and abandoningmeans you don't continue to
use it, not that you use it sometimes and don't use
it other times without your married name. It's
that you abandon using your unmarried name, using
your birth name, using your maiden name, whatever
you want to call it, and you don't do that anymore.

That is not what the facts are here.
We've already had that in the form of an affidavit
from Stephanie Mingo which is attached as Exhibit 1
to the submission And you don't have to take her
word for it. We have 58 other affidavits from
people who know her in the community and know her
as Stephanie Mingo and not as Stephanie Mingo
Miles, and we've attached those, all 58 of them, in
a packet as Exhibit 2 to our attachments

You know, we do not dispute that in
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various formal legal documents she uses her formal
legal name and she's used that when she was
employed by the state auditor, when she was
employed by the Franklin County Prosecutor's
Office, when she filed a deed. You know, there are
formal occasiors when I refer to myself as Donald
Carl Brey, other occasions when I'm Donald Brey or
other cases when I'm Don Brey. Now, I can do that
as a man. Women have the same rights as I do, as
anybody else does, to choose which of two names in
which they are commonly known should be used when
they file as a candidate. And that's all that
we're talking about here.

Now, opposing counsel spent a
considerable amount of time proving something we
never disputed, that Judge Stephanie Mingo has also
used on various occasions in formal documents, in
legal documents, in filings with courts, in deeds
the name Stephanie Mingo Miles or Stephanie M.
Miles. And, okay, we agree with that. She could
have run under the name Stephanie Mingo Miles,
which, by the way, still would have had that
wonderful name of Stephanie Mingo; but she didn't
have to. And the reason she didn't have to is

because she is known in the community, in her
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religious community, in church circles, in
political circles, in cultural circles by Stephanie
Mingo.
And at this point I would like to
ask Judge Stephanie Mingo a few questions.
EXAMINATION
BY MR. BREY:

Q. Would you take a look at Exhibit 1,
which is your affidavit I'm just going to ask you
a couple of questions about that.

After your 2007 marriage to Jason
Miles, did you continue to use and be known by the

name Stephanie Mingo without Miles in your church

communities
A. Yes.
Q. And after 2007 and until today did

you continue to use and be known by the name
Stephanie Mingo without your husband's name of

Miles in various political circles?

A. Yes.
Q. As a matter of fact, didn't you have
a name tag that said -- occasionally that said

Stephanie Mingo and not Stephanie Mingo Miles?
A. Yes.

Q. And did people come up to you and
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say, Hi, Stephanie Mingo?

A. Yes.

Q. And from 2007 and until today have
you been involved and attended various cultural and
community events throughout Franklin County?

A. Yes, I have.

Q. And in those cultural and community
events have you identified yourself as Stephanie
Mingo and not as Stephanie Mingo Miles?

A. Yes, I have.

Q. And have you worn a name tag that
says Stephanie Mingo and not Stephanie Mingo Miles?

A. Yes, I have.

Q. And have people come up to you and
said, Hi, Stephanie Mingo?

A. Yes, they have.

Q. Do you conclude from --

By the way, I understand that
there's been some testimony that, well, you
registered with the bar association as Stephanie
Mingo Miles.

I assume that when people run for
office in Franklin County they want votes from
people other than people that are lawyers. Right?

A. Yes.
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Q. And they're not -- and I assume that

looking up informationon the Supreme Court's
website or tracking down deeds is not the most
common way people have to figure out who is running
for office, is it?

A. It is not.

Q. Do you think that there would be --
We talked about the fact that Mingo is a good name.
It's the name you were born with, wasn't it?

A. Yes, it is.

Q. Have you ever abandoned the use of
that name?

A. I have never abandoned the use of
the name Mingo.

Q. Have you ever abandoned using the

name Mingo without using the name Miles after your

marriage?

A. I'm sorry. Would you repeat the
questiorm?

Q. Have you stopped ever using the name

Mingo without Miles after your marriage?

A. I have not.

Q. Is there a political advantage in
running in a name in which you are commonly known

in church circles, in political circles, and in
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cultural and community circles in Franklin County
rather than run in a name that you're not as
well-known in those circles?

A. Yes.

Q. Is that one of the reasons why you
decided to run as Stephanie Mingo rather than
Stephanie Mingo Miles?

A. It is.

Q. I also understand that you have a

sister who married a man also named Miles?

A. I do.

Q. And do people ever confuse the two
of you?

A. Frequently.

Q. And why is that?

A. Her name is Robin Mingo Miles.
She's not related to -- Her husband is not related

to my husband. But her name is Robin Mingo Miles
and we look alike and frequently people confuse the
two of us. I've received her work emails. She's
received information that was intended for me.

She's been to the courthouse where guards have

addressed her as "Your Honor." We look alike, we
have similar -- the same legal last name. It's
confusing.
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Q. Were you at all concerned that if
you used in your campaign filings the name Mingo
Miles rather than the name Stephanie Mingo people
would become confused with your sister?

A. Absolutely. I love my sister, but I
do not want people to call her "Your Honor." That
is my title.

MR. BREY: You know, I promised I
would be shorter. I think I've covered my
examinationof her, and I'd just like to say a few
words in closing.

MEMBER SINNOTT: Before your
closing, Counsel, let me just stop at this point
and see if the Board members have any questions for
Judge Mingo's counsel.

MEMBER SEXTON: I just have a
couple.

Going back to Exhibit 12 from
Mr. Colombo --

MEMBER SINNOTT: Mike, is this going
to be a question for Mr. Brey or Judge Mingo?

MEMBER SEXTON: For Judge Mingo.

It has here that you -- on 11-2 of
2015 you registered to vote here in Franklin

County -- or in Delaware County as Stephanie Mingo
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Miles, 7194 Hilmar Drive, City of Westerville
43082. 1Is that correct?

MS. MINGO: That's correct.

MEMBER SEXTON: And then you moved
to Franklin County in December 16th --

December 26th, I believe, in 20187

MS. MINGO: That is the correct
date.

MEMBER SEXTON: Is that correct,
when you became registered here in New Albany?

MS. MINGO: I believe that is the
correct date.

MEMBER SEXTON: Okay. And then
December 26th was also the date that you were
nominated by Governor Kasich as taking the bench, I
believe, on January the 10th as Stephanie Mingo
Miles?

MS. MINGO: I believe I received a
call from the Governor's office on December 24th,
2018.

MEMBER SEXTON: Okay. I'm referring
to Exhibit 15. Today Governor John Kasich
announced the appointment of Stephanie Mingo Miles
of New Albany, Franklin County, to serve as a judge

on the Franklin County Municipal Court,
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EnvironmentalDivision. Miles will assume the
office on January 10th of 20109.

MS. MINGO: That is the date that --

MEMBER SEXTON: Is that your correct
reading of the Governor's press announcement

MS. MINGO: I read that on
December 26th Governor John Kasich announced the
appointment of Stephanie Mingo Miles.

MEMBER SEXTON: Okay. And then you
were sworn in, I believe, on January 6th, I
believe, as Stephanie Mingo Miles, took the oath of
office. Is that correct?

MS. MINGO: The judicial oath of
office is dated January 6th, 2019.

MEMBER SEXTON: And then you
moved to -- or then you reregistered on January
the 10th as Stephanie Mingo. Is that correct?

MS. MINGO: I don't know what
exhibit you're looking at so that I can take a look
at it.

MEMBER SEXTON: I believe that's a
change of registration This would be Exhibit 14.
And here you state -- at the top of the page you
have marked "updating my name." Last name Mingo,

first name Stephanie, 4202 Stoneworks Place, New
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Albany, 43054. You signed it as Stephanie Mingo,
1-10-19. 1Is that correct?

MS. MINGO: I do see that I updated
my name on 1-10-19 as Stephanie Mingo.

MEMBER SEXTON: And that was the
same day that you took the bench here in Franklin
County as a Municipal Court judge, I believe?

MS. MINGO: Yes, January 10th, 2019.

MEMBER SEXTON: Okay. Thank you.

MEMBER SINNOTT: Mr. Brey, I have a
few questions for you to help me understand your
position.

So I believe that Judge Mingo
acknowledges that she has sometimes been known as
Stephanie Mingo Miles and other times as Stephanie
Mingo since the time of her marriage?

MR. BREY: Correct.

MEMBER SINNOTT: And that her --
does Judge Mingo also say that her legal name has
been Stephanie Mingo Miles?

MR. BREY: Yes. Since her marriage
in 2007 her legal name has been Stephanie Mingo
Miles.

MR. SINNOTT: But it is your

position that the statute in question does not
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require that a candidate be known by his or her
legal name?

MR. BREY: The statute does not
require that the declarations of candidacy and
petitions use the legal name; and this Board has
never required that, at least that I know of.

MEMBER SINNOTT: In your memorandum
you refer to two Ohio Supreme Court decisiors, one
being Morrison and the other being Pierce. Would
you acquaint us briefly with those two cases?

MR. BREY: Yes.

As a matter of fact, these cases
were cited by the Cuyahoga County cases. And
unlike the Cuyahoga County cases, which might be
persuasive or not in Franklin County, the Ohio
Supreme Court cases are actually binding upon
Franklin County.

In Morrison, the rule was stated
where a person signed a declaration of candidacy
using a name which he had adopted and by which he
had been generally known in the community for
years, the fact that during the same time he had
used another name on certain occasions did not make
such signing a change of name and invalidate his

petition pursuant to the various statutes cited by
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opposing counsel. In other words, you can have two
names. It doesn't have -- You don't have to always
use your legal name if you are known by another
name. And the undisputed testimony is that in
religious, political, and cultural circles she is
known as Stephanie Mingo.

And similarly, in Pierce v.
Brushart, which is attached as Exhibit 9 to our
attachment, -- the Morrison case is attached as
Exhibit 8 -- it states that, Where a person is as
well known by one name as another, the use of
either name is sufficient Under such a factual
situation, neither the letter nor the spirit of the
statute has been violated by the candidate. And
thus, the Ohio Supreme Court found the Board of
Elections was justified in approving as valid his
declaration of candidacy and petition for
nomination even though it didn't use the legal
name. It used a different name under -- which this
person had. Now, in the Pierce case, it was using
the old general code that was cited to the
predecessor of the 3513 statutes that are cited in
this case by opposing counsel.

So both these cases are construing

varied statutes that opposing counsel is talking
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about. If you haven't abandoned the use of the
name without your husband's name, you can use it,
even if, as we agree, she has used her husband's
name or legal name on various legal documents in
terms of her legal filings of liens or her legal
filings of complaints or filings with the Ohio
Supreme Court. You know, that's probably when I
call myself Donald Carl Brey. You've never heard
me call myself Donald Carl Brey in normal speech.
And I'm not lying if I pull out a petition saying
Don Brey. Neither is she when she pulls out a
petition saying Stephanie Mingo. And she's not
deceiving anybody.

Because the fact of the matter is
this is not a "let's find documents." This is a
"is she known as Stephanie Mingo." If she uses the
name Stephanie Mingo, is she misleading anybody
into thinking, what, that she's Clarence Mingo's
brother -- or he's her brother? He is her brother.
She's his sister. You know, and that's going to be
true and known whether she is Stephanie Mingo or
Stephanie Mingo Miles, but Stephanie Mingo is the
name under which she is commonly known. And using
that rather than Mingo Miles will, in fact, prevent

confusion with her sister that a lot of people have
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apparently.

MEMBER SINNOTT: There are times in
the statute, Mr. Brey, where the General Assembly
has told us that a rule regarding name change is
inapplicable when the name change is occasioned by
marriage. Are those statutes of any application to
the present controversy’

MR. BREY: Well, the two statutes,
3513.06 and 3513.271, one, do not apply to changes
in name due to marriage; but, two, they don't apply
to changes of name made over five years ago. Since
she was married in 2007, which is over five years
ago, any change of name due to marriage and any
change of name that happened in 2007 is not
affected by those two statutes.

You know, now, the argument that I
believe the opposing counsel is making, well, she's
changed her name somehow the last five years by
beginning to use a name she has not used before,
and that's just not true. She's continuouslyused
since 2007 the name Stephanie Mingo. She's got a
right to do that and she's got a right to run under
that name.

MEMBER SINNOTT: If you wanted to

take a couple of minutes to close, Mr. Brey, it
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would be proper at this point.

MR. BREY: The case is
straightforward Stephanie Mingo, Judge Stephanie
Mingo has of course used on various highly legal
and her employment documents the name Stephanie
Mingo Miles. That's her formal legal name. But
Ohio statutes do not require people to use their
formal legal name. And this Board has consistently
allowed men to use nicknames which are not their
formal legal names because the statute doesn't
require that you use your formal legal name.

You know, the purpose of the two
statutes, the 3513.06 and the 3513.271 statutes, is
to prevent the public from being misled or
defrauded in some way or in some unfair way; you
know, by changing your name so people don't realize
you are the same Don Brey that got picked up for
drunk driving last week so I'm going to call myself
Don Brown. That's not going to work.

But she has always used the name
Mingo, sometimes in connectionwith Miles,
sometimes not; but she's used it without Miles
consistentlyin a number of the sorts of
communities which are the communities she's going

to be asking to vote for her this fall, the
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political communities are a big support in Franklin
County, the church-related communities that support
her in Franklin County, the cultural and community
events and people she meets throughout Franklin
County. She's testified to that. There's an
affidavit to that effect.

I do not understand how on earth
Phyllis Elmo could say she primarily uses the name
when Phyllis isn't at her church or the church that
she goes to. Phyllis Elmo is -- doesn't show up at
the political events she's at. She has never seen
Phyllis Elmo at any of these cultural or events.
The statement that she primarily uses the other
name is simply a guess. And with the testimony we
have, we know that that guess was inaccurate And
even if it were, it's not a standard of primarily
using one or primarily using another.

The standard is did she abandon, did
she stop using at all the name Stephanie Mingo
without Miles. And she didn't. She's done it
before and after 2007 and to this day and it's a
name that she, like all married women who use their
husband's name on some instances and don't use it
on other instances, has the right as a married

woman to make that choice in terms of how she's
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going to present herself to the public. And it
should not be one rule for men who -- you know,
Jimmy Carter, Al Gore, Bob Dole. I mean, you know,
they were allowed to run under those names because
they were known under those names. And she is
known as Stephanie Mingo and should be allowed to
run under her name, as well.

Thank you.

MEMBER SINNOTT: Oh, Mr. Colombo,
you rose as though you were planning on saying
something

MR. COLOMBO: Oh, yeah. I thought
you said I would have a few minutes for a closing.

MEMBER SINNOTT: I thought you
declined that opportunity when you went back to
your seat.

MR. COLOMBO: Well, I was trying to
get out of the way of --

MEMBER SINNOTT: I can understand
the misunderstanding Mr. Colombo, if you have a
couple of minutes of argument --

MR. COLOMBO: Yeah.

MEMBER SINNOTT: -- to proffer to us
before the matter is submitted for a Board

decision, then --
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MR. COLOMBO: I appreciate that just

because I haven't had an opportunity to address
anything after Mr. Brey spoke.

MR. BREY: And if I may, I don't
think I exhaustedmy 35 minutes.

MEMBER SINNOTT: You did not. So as
we endeavor to wrap up here, perhaps a minute or
two from both of the lawyers and then it will be a
Board matter.

MR. COLOMBO: Thank you. I
appreciate that.

Just a couple of quick points. I'm
very bothered that this has been portrayed as a
man-woman type case because men are getting married
now legally just as well as women. These laws
apply to everyone.

And Mr. Brey referred to the
derivative cases, which I feared he would at the
start. They're not applicable here because the
cases he's referring to are where someone files a
petition -- and I know the Board deals with these
every election cycle -- where then someone comes to
use a derivative of their name on the ballot.

Those aren't the Revised Code sections at issue

here. Those sets of cases are different. When --
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And those apply to women, too. The Board has heard
these cases before where Virginia wants to be known
as Ginny. She had it on the petition as Virginia,
but would like to be known as Ginny on the ballot.

The affidavits that were filed were
not too helpful in her support. First of all, we
don't know if they're over the age of 18 and
qualified to testify, as is generally included in
affidavits. Additionally, we have no idea how
these people know her, if they know her from
college, if they live out of state, if they're
sorority friends. We have no idea who these people
are. I believe her church may be in Delaware,
although I -- So if Delaware people know her as a
different name, that's not too helpful in Franklin
County.

And point three on these affidavits
says she has not abandoned the use of the name
Stephanie Mingo. The two case law cites we gave
you are they have not abandoned the sole use of
Stephanie Mingo.

And despite opposing counsel's
position, both the McLaughlin and Martinez cases do
an inventory of the records that were available to

them. I believe it's around page -- paragraph
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seven, page 129 in our exhibits.

So it's abandonment of the sole use.
I mean, if there's a couple of instances where her
maiden name is used by itself, that doesn't,
according to these cases, overcome the presumption
of the evidence presented

Some of these older case cites he
gave you most likely were decided before some of
the relevant Revised Code sections were in place
here. So the laws have changed. And 3513.271 was
hardly addressed at all in opposing counsel's
presentation You know, the facts of the case are
clear. The Judge changed her name with the Board
of Elections January 10th, 2019. That was a name
change. That was abandoning now her married name.
So the law is clear that it has to have a former
name in parenthesis if there's been a name change
five years prior. Clearly, in this case, this is
in the election context. Her name changed at the
Board of Elections.

You know, lastly, I would say we in
good faith found what records are out there, and
the table of contents has approximately 45 plus or
minus examples over a l2-year period. I mean, the

weight of the evidence is strong that she abandoned
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the sole use of her maiden name; not just abandoned
the use, because she still uses Mingo. She
abandoned the sole use of Mingo by itself and
always had Miles attached to her name over the last
12 years.

I appreciate your allowing me to
give a brief closing, and I'll just incorporate
what I said in my opening statement. Thank you.

MEMBER SINNOTT: Thank you,

Mr. Colombo.

Mr. Brey.

MR. BREY: Thank you.

I won't repeat what I've said, but I
want to respond to a couple of things that
Mr. Colombo just said.

First of all, he's quoting the two
Cuyahoga County cases as saying abandoned the sole
use of and he says Stephanie Mingo. And he's
asking you to interpret that to mean that if you
use the name Stephanie Mingo Miles ever you have
abandoned the sole use of the name Stephanie Mingo.
That's what he's trying to ask you to believe
that's what those cases say. Those cases do not
say that. That is a misrepresentationof those

cases whether they're good law in Franklin County
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or not. Those cases -- and I've quoted -- He
didn't talk about it, but I've quoted from the
McLaughlin case where the evidence was she couldn't
remember any context in which she had used her
maiden name without her husband's name. That is
not the evidence you heard here today.

Secondly, he says we should ignore
what the Ohio Supreme Court said in 1980 and in
1950 because the laws have probably changed and
they weren't construing the same thing. Actually,
the laws in 1980 were exactly the same as the laws
are today. The same statute you indicate cites the
same code section. The code section in the 1950
case, the Pierce case, is a general code section;
but if you look it up -- and I did -- it is a
predecessor that is, you know, a little bit
different but fundamentally the same. I think it
had a ten-year lookback rather than a five year
lookback but fundamentallyis the same as the
current versions of 3513.06 and 3513.271, which, by
the way, we did talk about.

He states that she changed her name
at the Board of Elections. She said I updated my
name at the Board of Elections from one name by

which she was known to another name by which she is
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known. That's not a name change for purposes of
3513.06 or 3513.271.

Lastly, Mr. Corey Colombo has stood
up here several times and said these are all the
records there are, we looked at all of them and
there's nothing else out there. I don't recall him
testifying I don't recall him bringing his client
up here to testify. I don't recall anybody
testifying that this is all there is and this is
all despite good argument from counsel. And I
believe Corey Colombo is an honest guy. I don't
think that he's intentionallymaking a false
statement, but that is not -- argument from
counsel, as we all know, is not evidence. And
there is no evidence in the record that says this
is all there is. 1It's true that this is all that's
submitted in the record, but we didn't need to do a
lot of document research since we knew who these
folks were. Is it true that Stephanie Mingo has
testified Yes, she has. And there is many
affidavits. Maybe the affidavits should have said,
well, I know where these people are from. Well,
you know, the fact of the matter is her testimony
that people know her as Stephanie Mingo and not

Stephanie Mingo Miles is accurate according to at
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least these 58 people -- and obviously, we don't
claim it's only 58 people -- that view her that way
and therefore she's got a right to use that name.

The derivative cases, are they
relevant? I don't think so. Because the purpose
of the derivative cases of Mickey versus Mike was
that if you use a name that is not your legal name.
Remember, their argument was you had to use your
legal name but don't look at those derivative
cases. The derivative cases prove that you don't
have to use your legal name. And what is the
standard® Why are you allowed to use the
derivative? Because people know you that way;
maybe not everybody, but some people, even if in
your registrationwith the Supreme Court you use a
formal name, Michael rather than Mike or Mickey,
even if when you have a title to a property you use
your formal name, Michael rather than Mickey or
Matthew rather than Matt. You know, those do not
mean you can't be known throughout the community,
as Stephanie Mingo is, by a different version of
your name. And the same rule -- I know Mr. Corey
Colombo doesn't like it, but the fact of the matter
is it is unlawful to say that men who normally

don't take their spouse's name can change what they
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can change, their first name, their middle name or
whatever, but that women can't choose whether to
run in their birth name, the name she was born
with, as opposed to her husband's name.

And therefore, I would ask that you
find that there is no merit to the protest and the
protest should be denied.

MEMBER SINNOTT: Very good.

Mr. Colombo, Mr. Brey, thank you for the excellent
presentations I believe we understand your
clients' positions fully at this juncture.

The matter now comes before the
Board for decision. Let me suggest this. Let us
have a motion and then there can be deliberation
once there is a motion on the table.

In order to get that process
started, I move that we deny the protest.

Is there a second?

CHAIRMAN PREISSE: Second.

MEMBER SINNOTT: All right. There
is a motion on the floor to deny the protest. Is
there any Board member who wishes to speak?

CHAIRMAN PREISSE: I'm going to
quote Mr. Colombo, -- I think I have this

accurate -- You've got to run by the name you are
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known by, end quote. We can go back and look at
the record to see if I got it right. I might have
one word wrong, but that's essentiallywhat you
said.

I made that note when you said that,
Corey, because I think that's a relevant statement
here. And I think I'm not persuaded that Stephanie
Mingo Miles is known primarily or only by Stephanie
Mingo Miles. I was going to make the same point
that Mr. Brey already did, which is some formal
filing in the Ohio Supreme Court and many of these
other examples are so invisible to the public and
so esoteric and specific in their nature that that
isn't how people -- I have a feeling that Dana
Gillman Rinehart signed Dana Gillman Rinehart and
there's probably not a lot of people who even know
who the heck that was at the time or today. That
was, of course, Buck Rinehart. Anyway ...

MEMBER SINNOTT: Okay.

MEMBER SEXTON: I would oppose the
motion and just for several reasons. There are
several arguments. You know, her petition is
invalid because we've heard overwhelmingevidence
that Stephanie Mingo Miles abandoned the sole use

of her maiden name upon marriage in 2007 and now
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has reverted to the sole use of her maiden name for
the purpose of her nominating petition without
including her commonly-known married name of Miles,
which evidence shows she has included as part of
her last name since 2007.

Alternatively her nominating
petition is invalid because it failed to include
her former name of Stephanie Mingo Miles as
required by Revised Code Section 3513.271.

The law is candidates must provide
their name on their petition. If a married
candidate has abandoned the sole use of their
pre-marriage last name since their marriage, then
the married candidate cannot claim that their
exclusive last name is their pre-marriage last name
and must provide both their pre-marriage last name
and their married last name on their petition

McLaughlin versus Cuyahoga County
Board of Elections (2004) and Martinez versus
Cuyahoga County Board of Elections (2006) , both are
cited by the Secretary of State in the Election
Official Manual, page 11, I believe, dash, 4. The
Ohio Supreme Court made it clear that candidates
cannot change their name for political advantage.

State ex rel. Miller versus Cuyahoga County Board
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of Elections (2004): Candidates are prohibited

from changing their names to another to avoid an
unfavorable result in the use of the abandoned name
or to secure advantage by the use of such other
name.

To prevent candidates from changing
their names purely for political advantage, Ohio
law requires a candidate who changes their name
within five years of being a candidate to provide
their former name on their petition in addition to
their present name. Revised Code 3513.271 states:
If any person desiring to become a candidate for
public office has had a change of name within five
years immediately preceding the filing of his
statement of candidacy, both his statement of
candidacy and nominating petition must contain,
immediately following the person's present name,
the person's former name.

There is an inapplicable exception
to this rule if the name change occurs by the
result of marriage. Two courts of appeals cases
have held that changing a name from a married to a
maiden name is not a change of name by result of
marriage unless there was a divorce.

Again, McLaughlin versus Cuyahoga
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County Board of Elections (2004) , Martinez versus
Cuyahoga County Board of Elections (2006) , both are
cited approvingly by the Secretary of State in the
Election Official Manual.

If a candidate changes their name
and fails to provide their former name on their
petition, they are unqualified to hold the office,
Revised Code 3513.271.

So for those reasons I would oppose
the motion.

MEMBER SINNOTT: Very good.

Kim, do you wish to be heard?

MEMBER MARINELLO: I would move that
the protest filed by Phyllis Elmo against the
nominating petition of Stephanie Mingo Miles be
upheld on the grounds cited in the protest.
Specifically, that her petition is invalid because
of the overwhelmingover 45 instances where she
used Stephanie Mingo Miles or Stephanie Miles. She
abandoned her maiden name upon marriage in 2007 and
now has reverted to the sole use of her maiden name
for the purposes of her nominating petition without
including her commonly-known married name of Miles,
which evidence shows she has included in part of

her last name since 2007 including her oath of
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office. Or, alternatively the nominatingpetition
failed to include her former name Stephanie Mingo
Miles as required by Revised Code 3513.271. Either
way, it's clear to the casual observer that this
change of name or attempt to change her name was to
gain a political advantage

MEMBER SEXTON: I would second the
motion.

MEMBER SINNOTT: I believe we have a
motion to deny pending. So we're speaking to it
and we can take a vote on that. Since there's only
a yes or no option here, I think we'll have a clear
record of where the Board stands at the conclusion
of the vote on the motion to deny.

Well, I do have some thoughts that I
want to share. The protestor bases her protest on
the assertion that Ohio law requires candidates to
use their legal name on their nominating petitions
and statements of candidacy, citing the Board to
Revised Code 3513.261. No such statement, however,
appears in the statute. Indeed, it is common for
candidates to use a name that is not their legal
name. I can think of no instance in which this
Board has required a married woman to participate

in public life using her husband's name. This is a
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wise approach for this Board, as it reflects the
gender equality for which our society strives.

Protestor draws our attention to
three cases, one from the Ohio Supreme Court and
two from the Eighth District Court of Appeals, the
court that has jurisdictionover Cuyahoga County.

The Ohio Supreme Court case Miller
involved a man named Scott Miller who had been
known throughout his life by some variation of
Scott Miller. He repeatedly ran unsuccessfullyfor
public office under that name. Mr. Miller resided
in Cuyahoga County.

In January of 2004, Mr. Miller began
holding himself out as Scott Russo Miller and
changed his name on legal documents such as his
driver's license and his Social Security
registration to reflect that he would now be known
as Scott Russo Miller. At that time there were six
county elected officials in Cuyahoga whose last
name was Russo. The Board of Elections in Cuyahoga
County exercised its discretion in such a way that
Mr. Miller was placed on the ballot under the name
of Scott Miller and not Scott Russo Miller.

This decision was challenged in a

mandamus action, meaning that the District Court of
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Appeals examined only whether Mr. Miller could
demonstrate that the Board's decision resulted from
fraud, corruption abuse of discretion or clear
disregard of applicable law. There was no
indication in the case that Russo was ever any part
of Mr. Miller's name or his family's name. Under
these facts, the Supreme Court concluded that there
was no abuse of discretionby the Board in removing
Russo from Mr. Miller's ballot name. No abuse of
discretion

As to the Cuyahoga County Court of
Appeals decision in McLaughlin there was another
mandamus challenge to the exercise of the Board's
discretion;, again, meaning that the court was
examining only whether the Board's exercise of
discretion resulted from fraud, corruption abuse
of discretion or a clear disregard of applicable
law. Ms. McLaughlin told the Board that although
McLaughlin was her birth name, after marriage she
had exclusivelybeen known by her married name.
Under those facts, it was not an abuse of
discretion the Cuyahoga County court concluded,
for the Board to prohibit Ms. McLaughlin's
appearing on the ballot under her unmarried name.

Similarly, in Martinez, the Cuyahoga
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County court did not find a decision tainted with
fraud, corruption abuse of discretion or a clear
disregard of the law when the Board of Elections
concluded that Ms. Martinez's name on her
declaration of candidacy, her birth name, was not
her actual name, Jennifer Atzberger, which was her
married name.

The court said what was dispositive
in that case was that Martinez circulatedpart
petitiors using the name Jennifer Martinez on
various dates from January 9, 2006 to at least
January 28, 2006. She did not, however, submit a
form to the Board indicating the name by which she
wanted to be known until January 31 of 2006. The
court said at paragraph 16 of its decision that the
declaration of candidacy declared that she,
Jennifer Martinez, was a qualified elector. Yet at
the same time her name as an elector was Jennifer
Atzberger. While not identifyingit as the basis
for its decision, the court noted that it believed
that Ms. Martinez 1like Ms. McLaughlin in the
earlier case, had never been known by her unmarried
name after her marriage. Had never been known by
her unmarried name after her marriage.

These cases are inapposite and do
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not compel any particular result to the pending
protest. They prove only another board's exercise
of discretion under facts materially different than
the ones before us in this matter. 1In this case it
cannot fairly be disputed that Judge Mingo has and
does use both her married and unmarried name. This
is a common practice in our time for married women
for various reasons. This Board has an admirable
record of understandingthat a married woman in
modern society may be known as the name with which
she was born or the name of her spouse. Absent an
indication certainly not present here, that the
use of an unmarried versus a married name would
work some sort of deception on the public, I would
never vote to require a woman in Franklin County to
engage in public life only if using her spouse's
name.

There are cases that were not cited
to us by the protestor that I find more
instructive In a Supreme Court case that actually
comes from Franklin County, the Morrison court
observed that where a person signs a declarationof
candidacy using a name by which he has been known
in the community for years, the fact that during

the same time he has used another name did not
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invalidate his petitions. That was the Curly
Morrison case that a number of us of a certain age
may recall.

In Pierce, again the Ohio Supreme
Court observed that where a person is well known by
more than one name, such as is now common for many
married women, the use of either name is sufficient
in the context of a declarationof candidacy. I
find that those decisioms from the Ohio Supreme
Court are more instructive than the ones cited by
protestor.

So to summarize, the protestor comes
before us asserting that Revised Code 3513.261
requires candidates to use their legal name on
their nominatingpetitioms and statements of
candidacy. That is not correct. There is
undisputed evidence that Judge Mingo is known in
the community as Stephanie Mingo Miles and
Stephanie Mingo. That has been and remains true
today. Judge Mingo has testified to that and I
believe nearly five dozen witnesses have submitted
affidavits confirming that fact. Men are routinely
permitted to run by something other than their
legal name. There is no law requiring married

women to choose between always using their
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unmarried name or always using their husband's
name. In fact, such a law would understandablybe
offensive to modern society.

When exercising our discretion in
this matter, this Board should not be only mindful
of gender equality but also that we're dealing with
the right of Franklin Countians to decide
themselves who will be in elected office. We can
take that choice from them or we can leave it to
the public to decide.

Although Justice Holmes was writing
in dissent in the Morrison case, I would hope that
all the members of the Board would agree with an
observation he makes in that case. The late
Justice Holmes write, quote, Because of the
fundamental importance of the right of the citizens
of this state to choose who will govern, it is
incumbent upon administrativeboards as well as the
courts to make decisiors which further the informed
exercise of that right, closed quote.

Fundamentally the people of
Franklin County should decide whether Stephanie
Mingo is elected judge this November. This Board
should not deny them that right, insisting that

Judge Mingo be known only by her husband's name.
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For that reason, I move to deny the protest.

I believe all Board members have

spoken.
David, would you call the roll.
DEPUTY DIRECTOR PAYNE: All those in
favor of the -- or no.

Kim Marinello.
MEMBER MARINELLO: What was the
exact questiorm?

MEMBER SINNOTT: To deny the

protest.

MEMBER MARINELLO: No.

DEPUTY DIRECTOR PAYNE: Michael
Sexton.

MEMBER SEXTON: No.

DEPUTY DIRECTOR PAYNE: Doug
Preisse.

CHATRMAN PREISSE: Yes.

DEPUTY DIRECTOR PAYNE: And Brad
Sinnott.

MEMBER SINNOTT: Yes.

DEPUTY DIRECTOR PAYNE: There
appears to be a 2-2 tie. And I'll ask our legal
counsel, but I believe that goes to the Ohio

Secretary of State.
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MR. LECKLIDER Point of

clarificationhere. Judge Mingo has been certified
to the ballot, am I correct?

DEPUTY DIRECTOR PAYNE: She was
certified to the ballot, correct.

MR. LECKLIDER Okay. And
respective legal counsel may have different
opinions here. As I look at 3513.262 and 263, both
statutes close with "such determinationshall be
final." I don't know if respective legal counsel
have a differing opinion here. That's not to
suggest that you don't have other legal remedies
available to you.

MR. BREY: I would certainly agree
with you that, in other words, the time to do the
protest was before the certificationand not
afterwards

MR. COLOMBO: I completely disagree.
Because of the timely filed protest, a tie vote
would go to the Secretary of State to break the
tie, as has been done in other protest situations
numerous times. You know, a lot of the tie votes
deal with protests here and breaking a 2-2 tie.

MEMBER SINNOTT: Tim, thank you for

that observation and putting it into the record.
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That can be a matter considered by the Secretary of
State as the Secretary undertakes to resolve what
is a 2-to-2 split here on the Board.

I believe we now have --

MEMBER SEXTON: Well, we have
another motion --

MEMBER SINNOTT: Well, if you --

MEMBER SEXTON: -- to put into the
record.

MEMBER SINNOTT: Sure.

MEMBER SEXTON: That's already been
stated.

DEPUTY DIRECTOR PAYNE: And that was
to grant the protest? That was the motion?

MEMBER SINNOTT: What we should do
is have a motion to grant the protest, a second,
and then another vote.

DEPUTY DIRECTOR PAYNE: Okay.

MEMBER MARINELLO: I move that the
protest filed by Phyllis Elmo against the
nominating petition of Stephanie Mingo be upheld on
the grounds cited in the protest. Specifically
her petition is invalid because of the overwhelming
evidence that Stephanie Mingo abandoned sole use of

her maiden name upon marriage in 2007 and now has
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reverted to the sole use of her maiden name for
purposes of her nominating petition without
including her commonly-known married name Miles,
which the evidence shows she has included in part
of her last name since 2007. Or, alternatively
the nominatingpetition failed to include her
former name of Stephanie Mingo Miles as required by
Ohio Revised Code Section 3513.271. Either way,
it's clear to the casual observer that this change
of name or attempt to change her name was to gain a
political advantage

DEPUTY DIRECTOR PAYNE: Is there a
second?

MEMBER SEXTON: Second.

DEPUTY DIRECTOR PAYNE: It's been
properly moved and seconded, the motion to grant
the protest. I'll take roll call.

Kim Marinello.

MEMBER MARINELLO: Yes.

DEPUTY DIRECTOR PAYNE: Michael
Sexton.

MEMBER SEXTON: Yes.

DEPUTY DIRECTOR PAYNE: Doug
Preisse.

CHAIRMAN PREISSE: No.
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DEPUTY DIRECTOR PAYNE: And Brad

Sinnott.

MEMBER SINNOTT: No.

DEPUTY DIRECTOR PAYNE: We again
have a 2-2 vote. I guess that will go to the
Secretary of State.

MR. LECKLIDER As a clarification
to my previous statement insofar as when I made
reference to the statute and such determination
being final, I think that presumes that there was
not a dispute amongst the Board; in other words,
that there would not have been a 2-2 tie. 1In the
case of a 2-2 tie, I believe that Mr. Colombo is
correct in stating, and as I believe you concluded,
that the tie vote is submitted to the Secretary of
State.

MEMBER SINNOTT: Thank you for that
addition

I believe we're at the point where
what we really need to do is get the matter before
the Secretary to break the tie on the Board.

DIRECTOR LEONARD: Right. And I
think both questions could be presented at the same
time with the same memos in support for or against

the -- as opposed to having two separate memorandum
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packets.

MEMBER SINNOTT: Mr. Colombo and
Mr. Brey, that seems sensible to me, although I
believe that actually it is the Board members who
prepare the statements and tender the statements in
support of their votes. So it's my estimation and
I don't think anybody on the Board would see it
differently, there's only one question here and we
have to address everything in the same writing.

MEMBER SEXTON: That's fine.

MEMBER SINNOTT: Very good.

Is there anybody here on account of
the voter --

DEPUTY DIRECTOR PAYNE: I don't
believe so. We asked when everybody came in, and I
don't believe so.

MEMBER SINNOTT: All right. Then
let's take that up at the May 6th regular meeting.
Given the lateness of the hour, it would seem
proper to adjourn.

DEPUTY DIRECTOR PAYNE: Actually,
there was a question about whether you can have a
challenge within the last 30 days prior to the
election. We might have -- we may have been in

error in schedulingit in the first place
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because --

DIRECTOR LEONARD: It appears best
to be handle after the election because the statute
as recently amended cuts off at 30 days. A voter
challenge has to be filed 30 days before an
election, and this was filed after that time frame.

MEMBER SINNOTT: Make a
recommendationto us of that on Monday.

Motion to adjourn.

MEMBER MARINELLO: Second.

DEPUTY DIRECTOR PAYNE: All those in
favor signify by saying aye.

(Vote taken.)

DEPUTY DIRECTOR PAYNE: All opposed,
same sign.

(No response.)

DEPUTY DIRECTOR PAYNE: Motion
carries.

We're adjourned

Thereupon, the proceedings were

adjourned at approximately4:53 p.m.
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CERTIFICATE

THE STATE OF OHIO:
SS:
COUNTY OF FRANKLIN:

I, Carla D. Castle, a Professional
Reporter and Notary Public in and for the State of
Ohio, do hereby certify that the foregoingis a
true, correct, and complete written transcript of
the proceedings in this matter;

That the foregoing was taken by me
stenographicallyand transcribedby me with
computer-aided transcription

That the foregoing occurred at the
aforementionedtime and place;

That I am not an attorney for or
relative of any of the parties and have no interest
whatsoever in the event of this matter.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set
my hand and official seal of office at Columbus,
Ohio, this 8th day of May, 20109.

/s/Carla D. Castle
Notary Public, State of Ohio

My Commission Expires: September 29, 2021.
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